BYLAWS OF THE BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF HAWAI'I

(as of May 15, 2014)

Table of Contents

- Article I. Definitions
- Article II. Membership and Organization
 - A. Membership
 - B. Officers, Organization
 - 1. Term
 - 2. Vote
 - 3. Succession
 - C. Duties of Officers
 - 1. Chairperson
 - 2. Vice-Chairperson(s)
 - 3. Secretary of the Board
 - D. Standing Committees of the Board
 - 1. Establishment of Standing Committees
 - 2. Standing Committees
 - a. Committee on Academic Affairs
 - b. Committee on Budget and Finance
 - c. Committee on Long-Range Planning and Facilities
 - d. Committee on Personnel
 - e. Committee on Student Affairs
 - f. Committee on Community Colleges
 - g. Committee on University Audits
 - h. Committee on Intercollegiate Athletics
 - 3. Appointment of Committee Members
 - 4. Meetings
 - 5. Referrals to Committees
 - 6. Progress Reports
 - 7. Task Groups
 - E. New Board Member Orientation
- Article III. Advisory Committees and Consultants
 - A. Creation
 - B. Consultant Services
- Article IV. Meetings
 - A. Number and Place of Meetings
 - B. Special Meetings
 - C. Call for Committee Meetings

- D. Public Notice of Meetings
- Article V. Quorum
- Article VI. Voting
- Article VII. Legal Counsel
 - A. The University General Counsel
 - B. Requests for Written Legal Opinions
 - C. Conflicts
- Article VIII. Robert's Rules of Order
- Article IX. Amendments
- Article X. Conflicts of Interest
 - A. Standard of Conduct
 - B. Fiduciary Responsibility
 - C. Disclosures
 - D. Determination of Conflicts
 - E. Restraint on Participation
 - F. Sanctions and Remedies

BYLAWS OF THE BOARD OF REGENTS UNIVERSITY OF HAWAI'I

ARTICLE I. Definitions

As used in these Bylaws:

"Board" means the Board of Regents, University of Hawai'i;

"University" means the University of Hawai'i system and its various campuses;

"President" means the President of the University of Hawai'i;

"Chairperson" means the Chairperson of the Board; and

"Secretary" means the Executive Administrator and Secretary of the Board.

"Meetings" shall not include rule-making hearings, declaratory rulings or contested cases under Chapter 91, Hawai'i Revised Statutes ("HRS").

ARTICLE II. Membership and Organization

A. Membership. The membership of the Board shall be as required by Chapter 304-3, HRS. The members of the Board shall serve without pay, but shall be entitled to reimbursement for necessary expenses while attending meetings and while in the discharge of duties and responsibilities.

Notwithstanding the term of office, the term of a Board member shall expire upon the failure of the member, without valid excuse, to attend three consecutive meetings duly noticed to all members of the Board. The Chairperson or acting Chairperson of the Board shall determine if the absence of the member is excusable. The expiration of the member's term shall be effective immediately after the third consecutive unattended meeting and unexcused absence.

B. Officers, Organization. As required by Section 304A-104, HRS, the Officers of the Board shall consist of a Chairperson, up to two Vice-Chairpersons, and a Secretary (who shall be appointed by the Board and shall not be a member of the Board). The Chairperson and up to two Vice-Chairpersons shall be elected by the Board at a meeting preceding July 1 of each year and whose terms shall be from July 1 to June 30 of the next year or thereafter until their successors are elected and have qualified and whose election shall be immediately certified by the Board to the Lieutenant Governor. The President shall act as the chief executive officer of the Board.

- 1. Term. The term of the office of Chairperson and up to two Vice-Chairpersons shall be for one year. A Chairperson may serve more than one term, but not more than two consecutive terms.
- 2. Vote. Votes for the Chairperson and up to two Vice-Chairpersons of the Board shall be by ballot if more than one person is nominated for an office.
- 3. Succession. In the event of a vacancy in the office of the Chairperson, the First Vice-Chairperson shall succeed as Chairperson for the unexpired term. In the event that the First Vice-Chairperson is the immediate past Chairperson, he/she may succeed to the office of Chairperson, Section B.1. notwithstanding. The Board shall conduct an election as soon as possible to elect a new Vice-Chairperson.
- C. Duties of Officers.
 - 1. Chairperson. The Chairperson, in addition to presiding at all regular and special Board meetings, shall:
 - a. Appoint the chairperson and members of the standing committees and any other committees.
 - b. Acknowledge communications, petitions, requests, and proposals on behalf of the Board and, except in emergencies, refer same to the President or Secretary or an appropriate Committee of the Board for action or recommendation so as not to detract from the Board's governance and fiduciary responsibilities.
 - c. Maintain liaison with the President to see that there is an effective working relationship between the University administration and the Board.
 - d. Approve all press releases and public statements made by the Board.
 - e. Approve agenda items for any regular or special meeting of the Board.
 - f. Coordinate the efforts of the Board's standing committees to strengthen the roles and functions of same.
 - 2. Vice-Chairperson(s). The First Vice-Chairperson will assume the duties and responsibilities of the Chairperson in the absence of the Chairperson and will undertake such other duties as may be assigned by the Chairperson. If there is a second Vice-Chairperson, he/she will assume the duties and responsibilities of the First Vice-Chairperson in the absence of the First-Vice Chairperson and will undertake such other duties as may be assigned by the Chairperson or First Vice-Chairperson.

- 3. Secretary. The Secretary shall serve under the direction of the Board through the Chairperson and shall provide the necessary administrative support services to the Board. The Secretary shall:
 - a. Prepare and distribute the agenda for each of the regular and special Board and standing and other committee meetings.
 - b. Schedule regular and special Board meeting dates in consultation with the Chairperson.
 - c. Record and prepare minutes and reports for each of the regular and special Board and standing and other committee meetings.
 - d. Be responsible for securing information from the University administration.
 - e. Acknowledge and answer routine correspondence directed to the Chairperson and/or Board.
 - f. Serve as liaison between the University administrative staff and the Board.
 - g. Review policy proposals submitted by the University administration.
 - h. Maintain a calendar of the Board's unfinished business.
 - i. Conduct research and analysis of policies relating to the governance of the University by the Board.
 - j. Review rules and regulations affecting the University in accordance with the Hawai'i Administrative Procedures Act.
 - k. Maintain, collect, and preserve the official records of the Board.
 - I. Collate and index policies which are adopted by the Board.
 - m. Serve as "Records Officer" under the State archives program.
 - n. Serve as "Certifying Officer" of official University documents.
 - o. Perform additional duties as assigned by the Chairperson and the various standing and other committee chairpersons.
- D. Standing Committees of the Board.
 - 1. Establishment of Standing Committees. To facilitate consideration of policy matters that must be approved by the Board, eight standing committees are established. Authority to act on all matters is reserved for the Board, and the

functions of each standing committee shall be to consider and make recommendations to the Board.

- 2. Standing Committees. The following are the standing committees of the Board and their functions:
 - a. Committee on Academic Affairs
 - (1) Review and make recommendations on all new academic and research program proposals.
 - (2) Examine and evaluate the academic and research aims, objectives, and activities of the University.
 - (3) Review program evaluation reports and termination of programs, and make recommendations related to existing programs.
 - (4) Review, evaluate and make recommendations on the articulation of academic and research programs throughout the University.
 - (5) Review and make recommendations on programs, objectives and activities relating to international education, research and training.
 - b. Committee on Budget and Finance
 - (1) Work in concert with the University administration relating to operating and capital improvement budgets.
 - (2) Examine the budgetary process, budget proposals, expenditure plans, and development plans.
 - (3) Discuss the implementation of the budgetary decisions with the University administration, especially amendments thereto or when circumstances require deviations from expenditure plans.
 - (4) Review matters related to business affairs, endowment funds, and other financial assets of the University.
 - (5) Exercise general oversight and policy direction over the University's financial systems and programs.
 - c. Committee on Long-Range Planning and Facilities
 - (1) Review, study, and make recommendations to the Board relative to the long-range plans for the development of the University,

considering academic needs, priorities, and fiscal capabilities of the State.

- (2) Review, study, and make recommendations to the Board relative to the physical facilities master plans for each campus in the University system and to periodically review approved campus master plans in order to recommend revisions, if necessary, to meet the needs of the University.
- (3) Review proposals relative to naming of University improvements and facilities and make its recommendations to the Board.
- (4) Review policies and make recommendations to the Board on matters pertaining to the use of University facilities and ensure an environment that is complementary to the educational mission of this institution.
- d. Committee on Personnel
 - (1) Review and consider policies and practices relating to University personnel.
 - (2) Consider matters pertaining to collective bargaining.
- e. Committee on Student Affairs
 - (1) Serve as a liaison between the Board and appropriate student organizations.
 - (2) Consider matters of student life, including, but not limited to, student organizations, student housing, extra-curricular activities, student concerns in community, and other matters affecting students.
 - (3) Recommend policies governing all aspects of student life at the University.
- f. Committee on Community Colleges
 - (1) Periodically review Board policies affecting the community colleges and make recommendations for changes, as necessary, to the Board.
 - (2) Periodically review the strategic plan, mission statement, and the long range development plan of the respective community colleges for recommendation to the Board.

- (3) Periodically review and report to the Board the performance of the respective community colleges in meeting the community college and University of Hawaii strategic goals and objectives.
- (4) Provide oversight and direction to the community colleges on operational and financial performance issues.
- (5) Periodically review and report to the Board the status of compliance by the respective community colleges of requirements for academic accreditation.
- (6) Provide oversight and direction to the community colleges and four year degree schools to facilitate a seamless transfer of students matriculating between the community colleges and the four year degree schools.
- (7) Periodically review the impact of the community colleges upon the workforce in the State of Hawaii, and, if required, provide oversight and direction to the respective community colleges in addressing the dynamic employment needs and demands of the State.
- (8) Provide oversight and direction to the community colleges in providing greater access to higher education throughout the State of Hawaii, which shall include, but not be limited to, developmental/ remedial education and distance learning instruction.
- g. Committee on University Audits
 - (1) Advise the Board regarding the Board's responsibilities to oversee:
 - (a) the quality and integrity of the University's compliance with legal, regulatory and policy requirements, financial reporting and financial statements, and internal controls related to risks;
 - (b) the function, disclosures, and performance of the University's compliance, internal control, and risk management systems regarding ethics and compliance, risk, finance, and accounting, and the adequacy of such systems; and
 - (c) the independent certified public accountant's qualification, independence and performance, as well as performance of the internal audit function.
 - (2) Review the annual internal audit plan and the extent to which it addresses high risk areas.

- (3) Review the annual report of the internal audit department and discuss significant issues of internal controls with the Internal auditor and management.
- (4) Discuss the planned scope of the annual independent audit with the independent certified public accountants and review the results of the audit with the independent certified public accountants and management.
- (5) Receive and review the annual certified financial reports with the independent certified public accountants and management.
- (6) Recommend to the Board the certified public accountants to serve as the independent auditor, and their fees.
- (7) Revise the scope of their annual audit, and approve any services other than audit and audit related services provided by the certified public accountants.
- (8) Provide recommendations to the Board regarding approval of the internal audit mission statement, the committee's charter, and other governance documents related to both internal and external compliance and auditing activities at the University.
- h. Committee on Intercollegiate Athletics
 - (1) Serve as a liaison between the Board and the respective campuses and their athletic departments.
 - (2) Advise the Board regarding its responsibility to oversee:
 - (a) the health, safety and academic progress of student-athletes;
 - (b) fiscal integrity and budgetary concerns;
 - (c) compliance with NCAA and conference requirements; and
 - (d) any event or situation that may draw unusual public interest to the athletics program, a particular team, student athlete, or department employee.
 - (3) Review annual reports on the academic standing and progress of student athletes, including, but not limited to, the Academic Progress Rate report.

- (4) Recommend policies governing all aspects of Intercollegiate Athletics at the University.
- 3. Appointment of Committee Members. The chairperson and voting members of each standing committee shall be appointed by the Chairperson and shall serve for one year or until the appointment of their successors. The Chairperson shall be an ex-officio, voting member of all standing committees in accordance with Robert's Rules of Order. All board members who are not voting members of a committee or committees shall be ex-officio, non voting members of such committees. The President, as chief executive officer of the University, shall assign a member of the University administrative staff to each standing committee.

The Committee on Community Colleges shall include Regents from the four major islands.

- 4. Meetings. Each standing committee shall schedule meetings as appropriate. The Committee on Community Colleges meetings shall be held at the various community college campuses.
- 5. Referrals to Committees. Each standing committee shall consider all matters referred to it by the Chairperson and shall make appropriate recommendations within a reasonable time to the Board.
- 6. Progress Reports. Each standing committee shall make progress reports to the Board periodically or when requested by the Chairperson.
- 7. Task Groups. Task groups may be established by the Chairperson upon authorization by the Board with such powers and duties as determined by the Board. The tenure of a specific task group shall expire at the completion of its assigned task.
- E. New Board Member Orientation

New Board members shall be scheduled to receive an orientation within one month of the beginning of their term. The orientation shall include, among other things, an overview of the University system, BOR responsibilities, accreditation standards for Board governance, and BOR policies and practices. New Board members shall also be provided with a Reference Guide covering these and other topics.

ARTICLE III. Advisory Committee and Consultants

A. Creation. The Board may create an advisory committee, as necessary, which shall serve as advisory to the Board. The committee membership shall be appointed by

the Chairperson, subject to approval by the Board. The tenure of the advisory committee shall expire at the completion of the assigned task.

B. Consultant Services. The Board may engage the services of consultants as it deems necessary.

ARTICLE IV. Meetings

- A. Number and Place of Meetings. The Board shall meet not less than ten times annually (July 1, thru June 30) and may from time to time meet in each of the counties of Honolulu, Hawai'i, Maui, and Kaua'i. The Board shall at each meeting set the time and place for its next regular meeting.
- B. Special Meetings. Special meetings may be called by:
 - 1. The Chairperson;
 - 2. The Secretary, upon request by a majority of the members of the Board; or
 - 3. Any Board member, with the consent of the Chairperson.
- C. Call for Committee Meetings. Standing committee meetings shall be called by the Secretary in consultation with the committee chairperson. In the event of a joint meeting, the Chairperson shall designate the presiding committee chairperson.
- D. Public Notice of Meetings. All meetings of and public appearances before the Board and its standing committees shall comply with chapter 92, HRS, and shall be as set forth in the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the Board of Regents (Hawai'i Administrative Rules, Title 20, Subtitle 1, Chapter 1).

ARTICLE V. Quorum

A majority of all voting members to which the Board or its standing committees are entitled shall constitute a quorum.

ARTICLE VI. Voting

Voting by the Board and its standing committees shall be as set forth in the Rules of Practice and Procedures of the Board of Regents (Hawai'i Administrative Rules, Title 20, Subtitle 1, Chapter 1).

ARTICLE VII. Legal Counsel

A. The University General Counsel. The University General Counsel shall be designated as legal counsel for the Board. The University General Counsel or the University General Counsel's representative(s), in the capacity of legal counsel for

the Board, shall be present at all regular and special meetings and certain standing committee meetings of the Board.

- B. Requests for Written Legal Opinions. Requests for any written legal opinion of the University General Counsel shall be made by the Chairperson or designee with the full knowledge of the Board. Whenever a legal opinion is rendered by the University General Counsel, such opinion shall be in writing and along with a copy of the written request for such opinion, distributed immediately to all Board members.
- C. Conflicts. By policy and organizational structure, the University General Counsel serves the Board as well as the University administration. Understandably, there may be occasions when it becomes necessary to avoid a perception of conflict, or actual conflict, or to obtain specialized legal expertise. At such times, the Board may exercise its discretion in securing the services of independent legal counsel through the Secretary.

ARTICLE VIII. Robert's Rules of Order

Robert's Rules of Order shall apply in situations not covered by these bylaws, applicable statutes, or rules.

ARTICLE IX. Amendments

These bylaws may be amended only by two-thirds (2/3) vote of all the members to which the Board is entitled. Any proposed amendment to the bylaws shall be submitted in writing for consideration and vote by the members at a Board meeting.

ARTICLE X. Conflicts of Interest

- A. Standard of Conduct. Members of the Board shall comply with the provisions of these bylaws and are subject to the standards of conduct and financial interest disclosure requirements of Chapter 84, HRS (State Ethics Code) and must act in accordance with Chapter 84, HRS.
- B. Fiduciary Responsibility. Members of the Board serve a public interest role and thus have a clear obligation to conduct all affairs of the University in a manner consistent with this concept. Members of the Board are expected to place the welfare of the University above personal interests, the interests of family members, or others who may be personally involved in affairs affecting the University. All decisions of the Board shall be made solely on the basis of a desire to promote the best interests of the University and the public good.
- C. Disclosures. In the event the Board must consider any matter for the University which also directly involves:

- 1. a regent or a member of the regent's family (which shall be a spouse, parents, siblings and their spouses, children and their spouses, and any household member);
- 2. a public or private organization with which a regent is affiliated, as defined below; or
- 3. a regent's personal financial interest as defined under chapter 84, HRS;

Any affected regent, at the first knowledge of the matter, shall fully disclose, as noted below, the precise nature of the interest or involvement.

For purposes of this article, an affiliation exists if a regent or a member of the regent's family is an owner (which shall be an ownership interest valued at more than \$5,000 or 10% or more ownership of the business), officer, director, trustee, partner, employee (which shall also include legal counsel, consultant, contractor, advisor, or representative) or agent of such organization.

All disclosures required under this article must be directed in writing to the Secretary who, together with the University General Counsel, shall be responsible for the administration of this bylaw.

Matters covered under this article shall be reported initially to the Chairperson for appropriate action. Should the Chairperson be the regent with a potential conflict, the matter shall be reported to the Vice Chairperson. Should both the Chairperson and the Vice Chairperson have a potential conflict, the matter shall be reported to the chairperson of a Board standing committee in the order as listed in Article II, Section D of the bylaws of the Board.

Information disclosed to the Secretary shall be held in confidence to the extent authorized by law.

This disclosure requirement shall not apply to any regent who declares a conflict of interest and recuses himself/herself from consideration of the matter before the Board.

D. Determination of Conflicts. Questions concerning possible conflicts of interest shall be directed to the Secretary. Board shall resolve the questions by majority vote at a Board meeting in compliance with Chapter 92, HRS. Where any matter covered by Chapter 84, HRS, is involved, the potential conflict shall be referred to the State Ethics Commission for disposition. Questions of potential conflict not covered by Chapter 84, HRS, may be referred to the University General Counsel for a legal opinion, except that questions of conflict under Section 78-5, HRS, shall be referred to the University General Counsel for a legal opinion. Restraint on Participation. A member of the Board who has declared a conflict of interest and recused himself/herself or who has been found to have a conflict of interest in any matter before the Board shall refrain from participating in the consideration of the proposed matter. The regent may not vote on such matters before the Board and may not be present during the Board's deliberation and at the time of vote.

E. Sanctions and Remedies. Any Board action favorable to a regent obtained in violation of this bylaw is voidable on behalf of the Board; provided that in any proceeding to void a Board action pursuant to this bylaw, the interests of third parties who may be damaged thereby shall be taken into account. Any proceeding to void a Board action shall be initiated within sixty (60) days after the determination of a violation under this bylaw. The Board may pursue all legal and equitable remedies and/or sanctions through the University's legal counsel. Any Board action imposing a remedy or sanction under this section must be initiated within one year after the action of the Board that is affected by a violation.